THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

SEP 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-001178

---

Corey Ross,..... Appellant,

v.

Carolina Adventure World, LLC,..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

S. Jahue Moore  
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.  
P.O. Box 5709  
West Columbia, SC 20171  
803-796-9160  
803-791-8410 (Fax)  
Attorney for Appellant

**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The Trial Court erred in Ruling that the Appellant failed to show a Duty by statute or general business.**
  
- II. The Trial Court erred in Ruling that the Waiver of Liability barred Appellant's Claim.**

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant Corey Ross brought this action against Respondent Carolina Adventure World, LLC (Complaint, R. p. 3). Appellant's Complaint sought actual and punitive damages. (Complaint; R. p. 3). Respondent Carolina Adventure World answered Appellant's Complaint and the parties subsequently engaged in discovery

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Presiding Judge of the Sixth Judicial Circuit heard the trial on May 27, 2015 (Transcript of Hearing, R. p. 9). Respondent Carolina Adventure World, LLC made a Motion for Directed Verdict at the conclusion of Appellant Cory Ross' case (Transcript of Hearing, R. p. 258). Judge Culbertson issued his Order granting Respondent Carolina Adventure World, LLC's Motion on May 28, 2015. (Order of the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson; R. p. 1). Appellant's appeal timely followed on May 29, 2015. (Notice of Appeal; R. p. 290).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Appellant Cory Ross is a resident of Lexington County, South Carolina. (Complaint; R. p. 6). On or about December 27, 2008, Appellant traveled to Respondent Carolina Adventure World, LLC's property in rural Fairfield County for the purpose of utilizing Respondent's off-road trails. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 59; R. p. 67). Respondent owns two thousand six hundred acres that contain multiple trails and tracks for riding all-terrain vehicles and off-road motorbikes. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 99; R. p. 107). Appellant had never visited Respondent's facility prior to December 27. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 187; R. p. 198). Appellant and his friend drove to Respondent's facility, pulling their own all-terrain vehicles with them on a trailer. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 188; R. p. 199).

Upon arrival, Appellant and his friend were handed a waiver to sign before they could enter the park. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 188-89; R. p. 198-99). After signing the waiver and paying the entry fee of twenty (\$20.00) dollars, Appellant was given a trail map and a typed overview of Respondent's facility policies (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 189-90; R. p. 200-01). Appellant and his friend off-loaded their all-terrain vehicles and began to ride some of the trails. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 190; R. p. 201).

During this period of riding, Appellant encountered muddy trails that he handled with ease (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 190; R. p. 201). As Appellant continued his ride, he encountered a large boulder set into the trail in the middle of the hill (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 191-92; R. p. 202-03). Appellant was driving cautiously, and yet had no more than fifteen feet of vision to see what lay ahead (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 192-93; R. 203-04). Appellant's all-terrain vehicle rode up on the imbedded boulder, and the vehicle rolled backwards onto Appellant (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 195; R. p. 206). The right handle bar of the all-terrain vehicle struck Appellant in his right eye, gouging it out (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 195; R. p. 206).

Appellant's friend rolled the ATV off of Appellant, administered slight first aid, and went to get help (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 195-96; R. p. 206-07). Appellant was finally rescued and carried out of the woods on another all-terrain vehicle (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 199; R. p. 210). Appellant was carried by ambulance to the trauma center at Palmetto Health Richland, where he received further medical care (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 199; R. p. 210).

Appellant was admitted to Palmetto Richland, and he stayed in the hospital for over a week (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 199; R. p. 210). During the course of his stay, Appellant

underwent many surgeries to reconstruct his face and to remove the crushed right eyeball (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 199-200; R. p. 210-11). Appellant was fitted for, and now wears, a prosthetic eye made of glass (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 202; R. p. 213).

Appellant testified that he incurred large medical expenses due to the accident suffered on December 27 (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 205-7; R. p. 216-18). Furthermore, Appellant testified that he lost his job due to harassment at his workplace (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 207-8; R. p. 218-19).

According to testimony by Respondent's officer at trial, no person employed at the facility was trained to operate and maintain such a facility. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 100; R. p. 108). The only regular maintenance of any trail at Respondent's facility was the removal of fallen trees. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 109; R. p. 117). No regular inspections of the trails were made; Respondent expected patrons to simply avoid obstacles they could not handle. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 109; R. p. 117). Respondent has not even removed the boulder which caused Appellant's injury, under the belief that its visitors are fully responsible for their own safety. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 103-4, 112; R. pp. 111-12, 120).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"In ruling on motions for directed verdict and JNOV, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions and to deny the motions where either the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt." *Strange v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Trans.*, 314 S.C. 427, 429-30, 445 S.E.2d 439, 440 (1994) (citing *Vacation Time of Hilton Head Inc. v. Lighthouse Realty, Inc.*, 286 S.C. 261, 332 S.E.2d 781 (Ct. App. 1985)). "The trial

court can only be reversed by this Court when there is no evidence to support the ruling below.”

*Id.*

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court erred in Ruling that the Appellant failed to show a Duty by statute or general business.**

The Trial Court held, even though Appellant was a clear business invitee, Appellant failed to show any duty owed to him by Respondent in the course of the business engaged in providing facilities to all terrain vehicles. This interpretation of law is erroneous. Respondent is subject to clear duty of care under the common law as an occupier of the premises.

#### **A. Respondent classifies as an owner/occupier and is subject to the ensuing liability.**

An owner/occupier is one who occupies and controls the land. F.P. Hubbard & R.L. Felix, THE SOUTH CAROLINA LAW OF TORTS (1990) (citing 62 Am. Jur.2d Premises Liability § 6). There are five factors that typically define control of real estate for the purposes of premises liability: (1) management of daily operations; (2) right to admit or exclude company; (3) responsibility for maintenance and repair; (4) liability for bills, taxes, and wages; and (5) responsibilities of parties under lease. 62 Am. Jur.2d Premises Liability § 6.

Respondent is responsible for the oversight of daily operations at the property in question. Respondent controls the admission of business patrons to the park through its pay-to-use system. Respondent is in charge of the maintenance and repair of park facilities. Respondent pays all bills, taxes, and wages associated with the operation of the facility. The fifth factor is not relevant as the property in question is not subject to a lease.

Respondent is clearly the occupier of the land, and as such, is charged with liability for any defects and risks presented to patrons. South Carolina common law has a well-established system of variable care standards for an owner/occupier of land. As the owner/occupier of the premises that it conducts business on, Respondent is subject to that system dependent on the classification of the person on the premises.

**B. Appellant classifies as a Business Visitor and is thus afforded the highest level of care.**

In South Carolina, there are four classifications of persons who come on premises: adult trespassers, licensees, invitees and children. *Sims v. Giles*, 343 S.C. 708, 715, 541 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2001). Each classification is owed a different standard of care by the owner or occupier.

**i. Trespasser**

The adult trespasser classification is given to a person who enters the premises without permission or legal privilege. *Kershaw Motor Co. v. Southern Ry.*, 136 S.C. 377, 382, 134 S.E. 377, 378 (1926). In other words, a trespasser is one whose “presence is neither invited nor suffered.” *Sims*, 343 S.C. at 715, 541 S.E.2d at 861. This definition leads to the logical conclusion that a trespasser is one who is not meant to be on the premises.

South Carolina law is clear on the duty of care owed by an owner/occupier to a trespasser. “[T]he owner of property or the person in lawful possession thereof owes no duty to a trespasser thereon except to do him no willful or wanton injury.” *Nettles v. Your Ice Co.*, 191 S.C. 429, 436, 4 S.E.2d 797, 799 (1939). This standard of care is the lowest promulgated by the South Carolina courts.

## ii. Licensee

A licensee is one who enters the premises with the consent of the owner/occupier. *Neil v. Byrum*, 288 S.C. 472, 473, 343 S.E.2d 615, 616 (1986). The licensee enters the land to benefit himself, rather than for the benefit of the owner/occupier. *Hoover v. Broome*, 324 S.C. 531, 535, 479 S.E.2d 62, 64 (Ct. App. 1996). Examples of licensees include social guests and persons who have permission to cross the land for their own benefit. F.P. Hubbard & R.L. Felix, *THE SOUTH CAROLINA LAW OF TORTS* (1990).

Since a licensee has permission to enter the land and is not committing a wrong by entering, he is afforded a higher standard of care by the owner/occupier. A possessor is not required to exercise care to make the premises safe for the licensee, but is required (a) to use reasonable care to discover him and avoid injury to him in carrying on activities and (b) to use reasonable care to warn the licensee of any concealed dangerous conditions or activities known to the possessor. *Neil*, 288 S.C. at 473, 343 S.E.2d at 616 (quoting *Frankel v. Kurtz*, 239 F. Supp. 713, 717 (W.D.S.C. 1965)).

## iii. Invitee

An invitee is classified in South Carolina as someone who comes on the premises with express/implied permission and for the purpose of benefitting the owner. *Parker v. Stevenson Oil Co.*, 245 S.C. 275, 280, 140 S.E.2d 177, 179 (1965). In other words, "an invitee is a person who enters onto the property of another at the express or implied invitation of the property owner." *Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church*, 329 S.C. 433, 441, 494 S.E.2d 827, 831 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting *Hoover v. Broome*, 324 S.C. 531, 479 S.E.2d 62, (Ct. App. 1996)).

There are two generally recognized classes of invitee: the public invitee and the business visitor.

*Id.*

**a. Public Invitee**

The public invitee is “one who is invited to enter or remain on the land as a member of the public for a purpose for which the land is held open to the public.” *Goode* at 441, 494 S.E.2d at 831. This status does not apply to Appellant as Respondent’s land was not being held open to the public for a use by the public.

**b. Business Visitor**

In comparison, the business visitor is an invitee on the premises whose purpose there is either directly or indirectly connected with the business dealings of the owner. *Goode* at 441, 494 S.E.2d at 831. Moreover,

[T]he class of persons qualifying as business visitors is not limited to those coming upon the land for a purpose directly or indirectly connected with the business conducted thereon by the possessor, but includes as well those coming upon the land for a purpose connected with their own business, which itself is directly or indirectly connected with a purpose for which the possessor uses the land.”

*Singleton v. Sherer*, 377 S.C. 186, 199, 659 S.E.2d 196, 203-4 (Ct. App. 2008) (quoting 62 Am. Jur.2d Premises Liability § 88 (1990)).

Appellant is undeniably a business visitor to Respondent’s facility, and he classifies as an invitee for purposes of premises liability.

**iv. Duty Owed to an Invitee**

There is a duty to an invitee to “...exercise due care to keep the premises to which the invitation extends in a reasonably safe condition for [the invitee’s] use.” *Parker*, 245 S.C at 280-

81, 140 S.E.2d at 179. This standard was reiterated in *Graham v. Whitaker*, where the court stated that, "A person owes an invitee the duty of exercising reasonable or ordinary care for his safety and is liable for any injury resulting from the breach of this duty." 282 S.C. 393, 398, 321 S.E.2d 40, 43 (1984).

The law in South Carolina is manifest. A person classified as a business invitee is afforded a standard of due care by the possessor of the land they are on, regardless of the type of business being operated. This duty extends to "...the affirmative duty to use reasonable care to discover unreasonably dangerous conditions of the premises and either put the premises in a reasonably safe condition for use in a manner consistent with the purpose of invitation or warn him of the danger." *Hughes v. Children's Clinic*, 269 S.C. 389, 400, 237 S.E.2d 753, 759 (1977). South Carolina law also does not require that the exact injuries or manner of injuries in the case at bar be foreseen or even foreseeable. *Id.* at 397-98, at 756-57.

**C. Respondent failed to properly exercise the duty of due care afforded to Appellant.**

Based on the precedent set in South Carolina, Appellant is a business invitee. This classification afforded him the due care of Respondent to ensure that the premises where in a reasonable, safe condition for use, or for Respondent to warn him of any unreasonable dangers that existed. Respondent failed to fulfill any aspect of its duty.

An invitee in South Carolina "...enters the premises with the implied assurance of preparation and reasonable care for his protection and safety while he is there." *Singleton* at 202, 659 S.E.2d at 205 (citing *Landry v. Hilton Head Plantation Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 317 S.C. 200, 452 S.E.2d 619 (Ct. App. 1994)). By the admission of its own officer, Respondent did not

employ anyone trained or skilled in the maintenance and operation of an off-road recreational facility (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 100-1; R. p. 108-9). Respondent's officer further testified that inspections of the trails were not made regularly (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 109-10; R. p. 117-18). Respondent owes its business invitees the duty of providing reasonably safe premises, and did nothing to ensure the safety of its patrons. It made zero effort to protect against unreasonable dangers, and it failed even to warn that the dangers might exist.

South Carolina law requires that the premises be made reasonably safe for a manner consistent with the purpose of use. The Trial Court used an incorrect interpretation of the "manner consistent with the purpose of use" to rule that Appellant failed to prove a breach of duty, or even the existence of a duty. This ruling applied this legal theorem incorrectly. A duty is not created dependent on what the "purpose of use" is. The duty exists under the common law regardless of what type of business is operated. While the type of actions which constitute the owed duty may certainly be adapted according to the "purpose of use," this duty of care exists separate from the use.

The law is clear. A business operator owes a standard, due duty of care under the law, regardless of what type of business is being operated. Even analyzed under the terms of an off-road recreational facility, to say that Respondent fulfilled its duty under the law by doing nothing is unconscionable. Appellant is an unequivocal business visitor under South Carolina law, and he is therefore afforded the duty of due care by the Respondent. Respondent's own officer testified that absolutely nothing was done to fulfill the duty it owed to its patrons. The Trial Court presented clear error by holding that Appellant was a business invitee, yet was afforded no duty of care by Respondent.

## II. The Trial Court erred in Ruling that the Waiver of Liability barred Appellant's Claim

The Trial Court also held that, regardless of the issue of duty or breach thereof, Appellant had signed an Assumption of Risk Release. According to the Court, this released all claims that Appellant may have had against Respondent. This ruling is erroneous under South Carolina law.

Respondent requires all patrons to sign a Waiver of Liability upon entrance of its facility (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 126-27; R. p. 134-35). Patrons are not allowed entrance if the waiver is not signed. (Transcript of Hearing, pg. 127; R. p. 135). The legality of these waivers has been taken up by South Carolina Courts. In *Pride v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, the court held that:

“...a contractual provision seeking to relieve a party to a contract from liability for his own negligence may or may not be enforceable, depending on whether it is violative of public policy. Since such provisions tend to induce a want of care, they are not favored by the law and will be strictly construed against the party relying thereon.”

244 S.C. 615, 619, 138 S.E.2d 155, 156-57 (1964) (internal citations omitted).

In *Fisher v. Stevens*, the Court of Appeals addressed the issue of a liability waiver that had been signed by a person working a wreck crew at a speedway. 355 S.C. 290, 584 S.E.2d 149 (Ct. App. 2003). In its analysis, the Court determined that this waiver was overly broad and violative of public policy, as it sought to absolve the defendant from any injury for any reason. *Id.* at 297, at 153. Thus, in South Carolina, a waiver violates public policy if it seeks to indemnify the owner of the business against any claim at all.

Furthermore, “Contracts that seek to exculpate a party from liability for the party’s own negligence are not favored by the law.” *McCune v. Myrtle Beach Indoor Shooting Range, Inc.*, 364 S.C. 242, 248, 612 S.E.2d 462, 465 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Pride v. Southern Bell Tel. &*

*Tel. Co.*, 244 S.C. 615, 138 S.E.2d 155 (1964)). While the court in *McCune* held that the waiver at issue was valid, it was not intended to "...be construed as creating an indefensible position for all injuries sustained during inherently dangerous recreational activities." 364 S.C. at 251, 612 S.E.2d at 467. In fact, Appellant's case is distinguishable from *McCune* for the very reason the Court intended it not to bar all claims. The *McCune* release did not waive claims for gross negligence, while the waiver in *Fisher* did. 364 S.C. at 251, 612 S.E.2d at 467. Respondent's release seeks to do just that.

Appellant's claim is also distinguishable from *Huckaby v. Confederate Speedway, Inc.*. In this case, a racecar driver signed a release form, absolving the speedway from any liability, and that release was held to be valid. *Huckaby v. Confederate Speedway, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 629, 281 S.E.2d 223 (1981). The Court's reasoning provided that if "...a prospective participant wishes to place himself in the competition sufficiently to voluntarily agree that he will not hold the organizer...liable for his injuries, the courts should enforce such an agreement." *Huckaby* at 631, 281 S.E.2d at 224 (quoting *Gore v. Tri-County Raceway, Inc.*, 407 F. Supp. 489, 492 (M.D. Ala. 1974)). *Huckaby* is distinguishable for two reasons. One, the court never entered into a discussion of a waiver that waived liability for gross negligence, as Respondent's seeks to do. Two, the driver involved in *Huckaby* had raced at this particular track multiple times. *Huckaby* at 629, 281 S.E.2d at 223. This would imply a far greater knowledge of what risks the driver would encounter, giving the driver a far better understanding of the implications of the release. Appellant had never before been to Respondent's facility. He could not fully understand the implications of the release, and these implications were not explained to him by Respondent's officers or employees.

Respondent's waiver is clearly violative of South Carolina law concerning liability waivers. It seeks to release Respondent from "all liabilities, strict liability, claims, damages, punitive damages, property damage, actions or causes of action" caused in part or in whole by any negligence of the released parties, or any hidden, obvious, or latent defects at the facility (Carolina Adventure World Release, R. p. 287-89). The release document further requires the signor to "indemnify, hold harmless, and defend" Respondent against any claims arising out of the same manner (Carolina Adventure World Release, R. p. 287-89).

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