THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-001178

Corey Ross.....Appellant,

v.

Carolina Adventure World, LLC.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHRISTIAN STEGMAIER
cstegmaier@collinsandlacy.com
KELSEY J. BRUDVIG
kbrudvig@collinsandlacy.com
Post Office Box 12487
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 256-2660 (voice)
(803) 771-4484 (facsimile)

KENNETH RAYNOR
Raynor Law Firm
Ken@Raynorlawfirm.com
1018 East Blvd., Suite 6
Charlotte, North Carolina 28203
(704) 413-3400 (voice)
(704) 731-0774 (facsimile)
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

LAW/ANALYSIS

Standard of Review

In ruling on a directed verdict motion in the civil setting, the trial

court is concerned only with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not the weight of the evidence. S.C. Fed. Credit Union v. Higgins, 394 S.C. 189, 194, 714 S.E. 2d 550, 552 (2011).

A directed verdict motion is properly granted if the evidence as a whole is susceptible of only one reasonable inference. Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole, 351 S.C. 1, 15, 567 S.E.2d 881, 888 (Ct. App. 2002).

The appellate court will only reverse the trial court's directed verdict ruling when there is no evidence to support the ruling below. Id.

I. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Respondent's Motion for a Directed Verdict Because Appellant Failed to Present Evidence Respondent Owed a Duty to Appellant

In granting Respondent's motion for a directed verdict, the Circuit Court found Appellant failed to show Respondent owed a duty—whether by statute or general business—to Appellant.

To prevail on a negligence cause of action in South Carolina, the plaintiff must establish the following:

- (1) the defendant owed a duty of care to the plaintiff;
- (2) the defendant breached the duty by a negligent act or omission;

- (3) the defendant's breach was the actual and proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury; and
- (4) the plaintiff suffered an injury or damages.

E.g., Steinke v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation, 336 S.C. 373, 387, 520 S.E.2d 142, 149 (1999).

“The issue of negligence is a mixed question of law and fact.” Moore v. Weinberg, 373 S.C. 209, 221, 644 S.E.2d 740, 746 (Ct. App. 2007). As a threshold matter, the Circuit Court must determine, as a matter of law, whether the law recognizes a particular duty. See Ellis v. Niles, 324 S.C. 223, 227, 479 S.E.2d 47, 49 (1996).

The nature and scope of duty in a premises liability action, if any, is determined by the status or classification of the individual injured at the time of his injury. Sims v. Giles, 343 S.C. 708, 715, 541 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2001); see also Larimore v. Carolina Power & Light, 340 S.C. 438, 444, 531 S.E.2d 535, 538 (Ct. App. 2000) (“The level of care owed is dependent upon the class of the person present.”). South Carolina courts have recognized four classifications of individuals who come on another individual's premises: (1) trespassers; (2) licensees; (3)

invitees;¹ and (4) children. Singleton v. Sherer, 377 S.C. 185, 659 S.E.2d 196 (Ct. App. 2008).

“An invitee is a person who entered onto the property of another at the express or implied invitation of the property owner.” Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church, 329 S.C. 433, 441, 494 S.E.2d 827, 831 (Ct. App. 1997). A person is an invitee on the land of another if he entered by express or implied invitation, his entry is connected with the owner’s business or with an activity the owner conducts on his land, and there is a mutuality of benefit or a benefit to the owner. See Larimore, 340 S.C. at 444, 531 S.E.2d at 538 (“Because Larimore, [who was hired by the property owner to add vinyl siding to his home,] was a business visitor invited to enter or remain on the property for a purpose directly or indirectly connected with [the property owner], Larimore was an invitee.”).

The law recognizes two types of invitees: a public invitee and a business visitor. Sims, 343 S.C. at 717, 541 S.E.2d at 862. “A public invitee is one who is invited to enter or remain on the land as a member of the public for a purpose for which the land is held open to the public.”

¹ Respondent submits Appellant was an invitee.

Goode, 329 S.C. at 441, 494 S.E.2d at 831. On the other hand, a business visitor is an invitee whose sole purpose for being on the property is directly or indirectly connected with the business dealings with the owner. Id.

A landowner is not required to maintain the premises in such condition that no accident could happen to a patron using them. See Denton v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc. 312 S.C. 119, 120, 439 S.E.2d 292, 293 (Ct. App. 1993). Rather, the owner of property owes a duty of exercising reasonable or ordinary care for an invitee's or business visitor's safety, and is liable for injuries resulting from the breach of such duty. Sims, 343 S.C. at 718, 541 S.E.2d at 863.

[W]here the entrant is deemed to be an invitee, the rule seems to be that the occupier of the premises ordinarily owes him not only the duty not to injure him by unreasonably dangerous conduct while he is upon the premises, but also the affirmative duty to use reasonable care to discover unreasonable dangerous conditions of the premises and either put the premises in a **reasonable safe condition for use in a manner consistent with the purpose of invitation** or warn him of the danger.

Hughes v. Children's Clinic P.A., 269 S.C. 389, 400, 237 S.E.2d 753, 758 (1977) (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added); see also Parker v. Stevenson Oil Co., 245 S.C. 275, 280-81, 140 S.E.2d 177, 179 (1965)

(“The occupant owes a duty to an invitee to exercise due care to keep the premises to which the **invitation extends** in a reasonably safe condition for his use.”) (emphasis added). Further, the landowner has a duty to warn an invitee only of latent or hidden dangers of which the landowner is on actual or constructive notice. See Larimore, 340 S.C. at 445, 531 S.E.2d at 538.

It is important to initially note that the purpose of the invitation was for Appellant to use Respondent’s land for recreational riding of trails, whether they were maintained or unmaintained. Notably, William Ekkolm testified individuals ride on different trails “in order to progress to become better,” and “to challenge yourself.” (R. p. 188, lines 14-21). Appellant acknowledges that “South Carolina law requires that the premises be made reasonably safe for a manner consistent with the purpose of use.” (Appellant’s Br. at 14). However, Appellant attempts to mitigate our Supreme Court’s language, and argues that the duty to make “reasonably safe” is not created dependently on the “purpose of use.”² (Appellant’s Br. at 14). This argument is misguided.

² Respondent points out that Appellant has failed to cite any jurisprudence supporting his contention that the duty is not dependent

Respondent acknowledges that a duty to make the premises reasonably safe arises from the relationship between Appellant and Respondent. However, based on our Supreme Court's precedent, that duty is dependent upon the "purpose of use." Appellant failed to present any evidence at trial proving Respondent failed to make the premises reasonably safe for use in a manner consistent with the purpose of the invitation—riding trails in different degrees of difficulty. See Hughes, 269 S.C. at 400, 237 S.E.2d at 758; Parker, 245 S.C. at 280-81, 140 S.E.2d at 179. As the Circuit Court noted, "there's nothing that shows that the generally accepted business practices of operating these types of facilities for ATV off-road trail-riding requires [Respondent] to go remove impediments from these trail-ways." (R. p. 280, lines 5-8). The Appellant failed to present any evidence, such as the opinion of an expert witness, that the standard of care operators of off-road trail-riding facilities would prescribe the removal of the particular rock upon which the Appellant overturned his ATV. Although Appellant objects to the specific rock on which he overturned, he acknowledged that on the trails "rocks are everywhere, they're fine." (R. p. 227, line 4). A rock visible

upon the purpose of the invitation.

from 20 feet away on a natural trail designated as a black diamond trail in an off-road ATV facility is not the equivalent to snow and ice on the floor of a grocery store during shopping hours. One knows that snow and ice should not be on the floor of a store open to shoppers. Evidence of the existence of the snow and ice on the floor can constitute evidence of negligence under the “purpose of use rule.” However, under this rule, snow and ice on a ski slope are not considered evidence, without more, of negligence. The “purpose of use rule” acknowledges that a rock on a black diamond ATV trail visible for 20 feet cannot be viewed, without more, as evidence of a breach of duty any more than evidence of challenging conditions on a black diamond ski trail. See e.g. Nelson v. Snowridge, Inc., 818 F. Supp. 80 (D.C. Vt. 1993) (holding ski area operator had no duty to warn skiers of icy conditions on trail and ski operator was not liable to expert skier who fell on ice and collided with a tree on designed double black diamond trail, where ice was obvious and necessary danger in sport of skiing; skier was aware of special difficulties of traversing ice on double black diamond trails and was aware of ice on this specific trail).

Moreover, Appellant failed to present evidence that Respondent

failed to warn Appellant of any specific condition which was a latent or hidden danger of which Respondent was on actual or constructive notice. See Larimore, 340 S.C. at 445, 531 S.E.2d. at 538. Instead, Appellant identifies as the “dangerous condition” a rock which he observed from fifteen to twenty feet away. That is not a hidden condition. Furthermore, Appellant failed to present any evidence that anyone had ever had a problem navigating their ATV over that rock, including Appellant’s friend, Paxton, and the 1,200 people who used the property during the week of Appellant’s accident in order to create a duty owed by Respondent to warn Appellant. (R. p. 203, lines 7-9).

The Appellant’s evidence included testimony that even the most experience of riders wreck on ATVS when pushing the limits. (R. p. 188, lines 2-13). It is axiomatic that proof of an injury is not proof of negligence. Cf. Taylor v. Winnsboro Mills, 146 S.C. 28, 143 S.E.2d 474 (1928) (“It is well settled in this state that proof of injury does not raise presumption of negligence”). Yet, this is exactly the method upon which Appellant seeks to establish his claim. As such, the Appellant failed to meet his burden of proof to establish that the Respondent breached any duty owed to him.

II. The Circuit Court Properly Held the Waiver of Liability Barred Appellant's Claim

As an alternative ground, the Circuit Court found Appellant signed an assumption of risk agreement acknowledging the inherent dangers of ATV trail riding. Accordingly, Respondent was absolved of any liability on Appellant's claims because Appellant expressly assumed risk.

Exculpatory contracts, such as the waiver of liability signed in this case, have been upheld by the courts of this state. McCune v. Myrtle Beach Indoor Shooting Range, Inc. 364 S.C. 242, 249, 612 S.E.2d 462, 465 (Ct. App. 2005); see Huckaby v. Confederate Motor Speedway, Inc., 276 S.C. 629, 630, 281 S.E.2d 223, 224 (1981) (finding plaintiff's action against speedway of injuries sustained during a race was barred by the "waiver and release" voluntarily signed by plaintiff prior to entering the race track); Pride v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 244 S.C. 615, 619-22, 138 S.E.2d 155, 157-58 (1964) (holding it was not a violation of public policy for telephone company to legally limit its liability by contract for negligence); see also Gore v. Tri-County Raceway, Inc., 407 F. Supp. 489, 492 (M.D. Ala. 1974) ("If these agreements, voluntarily entered into, were not upheld, the effect would be to increase the liability of those

organizing or sponsoring such events to such an extent that no one would be willing to undertake to sponsor a sporting event. Clearly, this would not be in the public interest.”).

This Court in McCune enforced a release form signed by the plaintiff in absolving liability of a shooting range. The mask the plaintiff had worn while participating in a paintball game was alleged to be loose and ill-fitting. While playing in a match, the plaintiff caught the mask on the branch of a tree. The tree was obscured from the plaintiff’s field of vision by the top of the mask. The plaintiff’s mask was raised off her face because it was loose, and provided no protection against an incoming paintball pellet, which struck the plaintiff in the eye. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court’s finding that the waiver signed by the plaintiff was sufficient to show she expressly assumed the risk associated with playing paintball. McCune, 364 S.C. at 249, 612 S.E.2d at 465. Respondent avers the circumstances are the same in the instant case and that McCune is a basis for affirming the Circuit Court.

Appellant relies on Fisher v. Stevens, 355 S.C. 290, 584 S.E.2d 149 (Ct. App. 2003), in arguing the waiver of liability form signed by Appellant, which barred all claims of liability, violated public policy.

However, this Court did not make such a finding in Fisher.

In Fisher, the plaintiff suffered injuries after falling from a wrecker truck at the Myrtle Beach Motor Speedway. The plaintiff signed a release to gain access to the pit area where the wrecker was located. The release provided:

[Fisher] HEREBY RELEASES, WAIVES, DISCHARGES AND CONVENANTS NOT TO SUE THE PROMOTERS, PARTICIPANTS, RACING ASSOCIATION, SANCTIONING ORGANIZATION OR ANY SUBDIVISION THEREOF, TRACK OPERATOR, TRACK OWNER, OFFICIALS, VEHICLE OWNERS, DRIVERS, PIT CREWS, ANY PERSONS IN ANY RESTRICTED AREA . . . ALL FOR THE PURPOSES HEREIN REFERRED TO AS THE "RELEASEES", FROM ALL LIABILITY . . . where caused by the negligence or gross negligence of the "RELEASEES[.]

Fisher, 355 S.C. at 293, 584 S.E.2d at 151.

The plaintiff filed suit against the driver and owner of the wrecker, as well as speedway. The driver and owner of the wrecker asserted the release, signed by the plaintiff, as an affirmative defense. The trial court granted partial summary judgment to the plaintiff against the driver and owner of the wrecker, finding the release, as a matter of law, did not bar the plaintiff's claims. The trial court found an issue of fact existed concerning whether the plaintiff was an employee of the speedway, thus

invalidating the release as being contrary to public policy.

This Court affirmed, dismissing the driver and owner of the wrecker's contention that the release applied to them pursuant to the language to release "VEHICLE OWNERS, DRIVERS, [and] ... ANY PERSONS IN ANY RESTRICTED AREA" from any liability. This Court found "vehicle owners" and "drivers" to be a term of art, denoting the owner and driver of a competing racecar rather than a wrecker. This Court further found the reliance on the phrase "ANY PERSONS IN ANY RESTRICTED AREA" to be overly broad and its enforcement would offend notions of public policy. This Court concluded the parties could have agreed to plainly state that the plaintiff agreed to relieve the wrecker's owner and driver from all liability in the release.³

This Court **did not** find the release was unenforceable due to its language releasing liability for negligence or gross negligence. Accordingly, Appellant's reliance on Fisher for this proposition is unfounded.

Further, our Supreme Court upheld a waiver and release agreement in Huckaby. Appellant attempts to distinguish the facts of Huckaby from

³ This Court dismissed Speedway's appeal on procedural grounds.

the case at bar, asserting the driver involved in Huckaby had raced at the particular track in question multiple times. However, the enforceability of waiver agreements should not be based on the experience of the individual injured, but must be viewed objectively. See Huckaby, 276 S.C. 629, 281 S.E.2d 223.

Like the driver in Huckaby and the injured patron in McCune, Appellant voluntarily signed the waiver of liability and voluntarily road the trails at Respondent's property. Accordingly, the Circuit Court properly found the waiver of liability was enforceable and Appellant expressly assumed the risk.

III. The Doctrine of Primary Implied Assumption of the Risk Supported the Circuit Court's Granting of Directed Verdict

As an alternative ground, the Circuit Court held Respondent had no duty to warn of any alleged dangerous condition because the condition is "part of the experience of riding these ATVs through the woods and through the trails and things of that nature."

"Express assumption of risk is contrasted with implied assumption of risk which arises when the plaintiff implicitly, rather than expressly, assumes known risks. Implied assumption of risk is characterized as

either primary or secondary.” McCune, 364 S.C. at 247, 612 S.E.2d at 464. “[P]rimary implied assumption of risk is but another way of stating the Gore conclusion that a plaintiff has failed to establish a prima facie case [of negligence] by failing to establish that a duty exists.” Davenport v. Cotton Hope Plantation Horizontal Property Regime, 333S.C. 71, 81, 508 S.E.2d 565, 570 (1998).

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